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Audit report

To the Partners of
SI1G Combibloe Group Holdings S.ar.l.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opmion. the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consohdated financial position of SIG Combibloe Group Holdings S.ar]. (the Company) and its
subsidiarics {the Group) as at 31 December 2017. and of 1ts consolidated financial performance and its

consolidated cash flows for the vear then ended in accordance with International I'inancial Reporting,
Standards (IFRSs).

What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements eomprise:
» the consohdated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017;

s the consolidated statement of profil and loss and other comprehensive ineome for the vear then
ended:

» the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the vear then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements. which include a summary of significant
accounting poicies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 on the audit profession (Law of
23 Julv 2016) and with International Standards on Auditing {18As) as adopted for Luxembourg by the
“Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier” {CSSF). Our responsibilitics under thnse Law and
standards are further desenbed in the “Responsibililies of the “Réviseur d'entreprices agréé” for the
audit of the consolidated financial slatementis” section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

PriecieaterhiouseCoopers, Saqété conpéralive, 2 ruc Gerhard Mercator, BA® a3, 1-1004 Linemibou-g
T 13350 205838 1 F 4352 394848 29000, wuny pue fy

Cohinet de révdsion agrée baperi-compluable (autorisation gouver nementale n®1o0z825014
KOS Luverthoura B6i 477 - TVA L 25482518



pwec

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Fihics Standards Board for
Accountanis’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (TESBA Code) as adopted for Luxembourg by
the CSSF together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements. We have fulfilled cur other ethical responsibilities under those ethical requirements.

Other miformation

The Board of Directors is responsibie for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the consolidated Management report but does not mclude the consohdated
financial statements and our audit report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements docs nol covel the other infoimation and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In conneclion with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other mnformation is materally
inconsistent with ihe consolidaled financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audil. or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of thiz other information. we are required 1o report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsihle for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
{inancial statements in accordance with (IFRS8s), and for sach internal control as the Board of [Yrectors
determines is necessary 1o enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements. the Board of Directorsis responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continte as a gomng, concern, disclosing. as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Dircetors either intends to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 1o do so.

Responsibilities of the “Réviseur dentreprises agréé” for the audit of the consolidated financial
Statements

The objectives of our audit are Lo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated finaneial
slatements as a whole are free {from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to issue
an audit report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Law of 23 .July 2016 and with 1SA= as adopted
for Luxembourg by the CSSF will always detect a material misstatement when it existe. Misstatements
can arse from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg
by the CSSF, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepheism throughout the audit.



We also

wentfy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures respounsive te those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 1s higher than for one resulting from
error, as fravd may involve collusion, forgery. intentional ormssions. misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control;

obtain an understanding of iniernal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit precedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal controtl.

evaluale the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosares made by the Board of Directors;

conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubl on the Group’s ability to continuc as a going
concern. It we conclude that a material nncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 1 owr
audit report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our audit report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to coase to
continue as a going coneern:

evaluale the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financal statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the eonsolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion

We communicate with those charged with povernance regarding. among other matters, the planped
scope and timing of the andit and significant andit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal contro] that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The consolidated Management report 1s consislent with the consolidated finaneial statements and has
heen prepared in accordance with applicable legal requircments

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société conpérative Luxembourg, 13 Februan 2018
Represented by

(!

Malik Lekehal



SIG Combibloc Group Holdings 8.4 r.l

Consolidated tinancial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,

(In € million) Note 2017 2016
Revenue 3 1,664.1 1,723.8
Cost of sales (1,275.7) (1,328.7)
Gross profit 388.4 39s5.1
Other income 4 11.7 34.2
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses (68.7) (64.8)
General and administrative expenses (176.6) (174.8)
Other expenses 5 (5.6) (5i.1)
Share of profit of joint ventures, net of income tax 13 18.8 21.4
Profit from operating activities 168.0 160.0
Finance income 7 10.2 13.8
Finance expenses 7 (248.9) (178.8)
Net finance expense (238.7) (165.0)
Loss before income tax (70.7) 5.0
[ncone tax expense 8 {26.2) {34.9)
Loss for the period (96.9) (39.9)
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified fo prafit or loss

Currency translations of foreign operations:

- recognized in translation reserve 7.3 65.4
Items that will not be reclassified o profit or loss

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 25.4 6.6
Taotal other comprehensive income, net of income tax 3 32.7 72.0
Total comprehensive income (64.2) 32.1
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SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.a r.l.
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Consolidated statement of financial position

As of As of
December 31, December 31,

{in € million) Note 2017 2016

Cash and cash equivalents 2.7 103.9 123.7
Trade and other receivables 9 2873 293.4
Inventories 10 1224 125.6
Current tax assets 8 2.5 4.1
Other current assets 20 282 17.1
Total current assets 5443 563.9
Non-current receivables 9 7.9 6.3
Investments in joint ventures 13 206.9 219.7
Deferred tax assets 8 2.9 2.3
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,015.4 1,028.8
Intangible assets 12 2,561.0 2,780.0
Other non-current asse(s 15,16, 20 2333 2309
Total non-current assets 4,027.4 4,268.0
Total assets 4,571.7 4,831.9
Trade and other payables 14 410.1 386.7
Loans and other borrowings 15 224 223
Current tax liabilities 8 358 51.1
Employee benefits 16 26.5 326
Provisions 17 243 26.0
Other current liabilities 15, 18, 20 34.2 35.2
Total current liabilities 5533 5539
Non-current payables 14 4.7 1.8
Loans and other borrowings 15 2,534.2 2,700.1
Deferred tax liabilities 8 227.5 263.4
Employee benefits 16 107.1 109.3
Provisions 17 18.5 18.1
Other non-current liabilities 15,18, 20 89.6 85.0
Total non-current liabilities 2.981.6 3,177.7
Total liabilities 3,534.9 3,731.6
Share capital 19 1,156.3 1,135.6
Reserves (81.5) (88.8)
Retained earnings (38.0) 335
Total equity 1,036.8 1,100.3
Total liabilities and equity 4,571.7 4,831.9
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SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.a r.L.
Consolidated tinancial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Share Translation- Retained Taotal

(In € million) Note capital reserve earnings __equity
Equity as of Januvary 1, 2017 1,155.6 (83.8) 33.5 1,100.3
Loss for the period {96.9) (96.9)
Other camprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Currency translations of foreign operations:

—recognized in translation reserve 7.3 7.3
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 254 254
Total other comprehensive income, net of income tax - 7.3 25.4 329
Total comprehensive income for the periad - 7.3 {71.5) (64.2)
Issue of shares 19 0.7 0.7
Total transactions with owners 0.7 - - .7
Equity as of December 31, 2017 19 1,156.3 _(81.%) (38.0) 1,036.8
Equity as of January 1, 2016 1,1585.0 (154.2) 66.8 1,067.6
Loss for the period (39.9) (39.9)
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Currency translations of foreign operations:

— recognized in translation reserve 654 65.4
Ttems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 6.6 6.6
Total other comprehensive income, nes of income tax - 65.4 6.6 720
Total comprehensive income for the period - 65.4 (33.3) 32.1
[ssue of shares 19 0.6 0.6
Total transactions with owners 0.6 - - 0.6
Equity as of December 31, 2016 1,155.6 (88.8) 335 1,100.3
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SIG Combibloc Group Holdings 8.4 .1

Consolidated financial statements

for the year ended December 31, 2017

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,
{(In € mullion) Note 2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the period (96.9) (39.9)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 11,12 265.9 262.1
Impairment losses {1 1.9 -
Change in fair value of derivatives {5.2) (0.9)
Gain on sale of property. plant and equipment and non-cumrent assets £0.3) (1.4
Share of profit of joint ventures, net of income tax i3 (18.8) (21.4)
Net finance expense 7 2387 165.0
Interest paid 15 (143.6) {153.4)
Income tax expense 8 26.2 34.9
Income taxes paid. net of refunds received (72.9) (65.6)
195.0 1794

Change in trade and other receivables (21.0) (56.6)
Change in tnventories 5.0 17.8
Change in trade and other payables 422 36.1
Change in provisions and employee benefits 4.7 48.0
Change in other assets and liabilities 30.8 147
Net cash from operating activities 246.7 239.4
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of business, payment of contingent consideration 20 (10.0) (150.0)
Acquisition of property. plant and equipment and intangible assets 11,12 (212.3) (186.4)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and other assets 0.9 42
Dividends received from joint ventures 13 25.0 19.3
Interest received 1.0 1.8
Net cash used in investing activities (195.4) (311.1)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of transaction costs relating to financing (1.5) (2.8)
Repayment of loans and borrowings 15 {67.9 {54.9)
Payment of finance lease liabilities 15 (1.3) -
Proceeds from sale and leaseback transactions i5 13.1 -
Proceeds from issue of shares 19 0.7 0.6
Other {4.9) -
Net cash used in financing activities (61.8) (87.1)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (10.5) (128.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 123.7 2513
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents (9.3) 1.2
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 2.7 103.9 123.7




SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.ar.\.
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

1. Reporting entity

SIG Combibloe Group Holdings S.4 r.l. {the “Company™) is a company domiciled in Luxembourg. The
address of its registered office is 6C, rue Gabriel Lippmann. 1.-5365 Munsbach, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

The Company, via its subsidiaries, obtained conirol of SIG Combibloc Group AG and SIG Holding USA,
LLC and their respective subsidiaries (together “SIG” or the “SIG Group™) at the close of business on March 13,
2015. The previous owner of S1G was Reynolds Group Heldings Limited and its subsidiaries (“RGHL™).

The $1G Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing of aseptic carton salutions for botlt beverage
and liquid tood producis, ranging from juices and milk to soups and sauces. Its product offering consists of aseptic
carton packaging filling machines, aseptic carton packaging sleeves, spouts and caps as well as after-market
services.

The consalidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 comprise the Company and

its subsidiaries, including the SIG Group (together referred to as the “*Group™). The subsidiaries and joint ventures
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company are listed in note 25.

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies

2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financia! statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 have been prepared in
accordance with International Financia! Reporting Standards (“1FRS"} as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB™). They are also compliant with [FRS as adopted by the European Union ("EU™).

The ¢consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 were approved by the Board
of Directors of the Company on February 13, 2018,

22 Presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros ("€7), which is the functional currency of the
Company.

2.3 Application of accounting policies

The accounting policies applied by the Group in the consolidated tinancial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2017 are consistent with those applied in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

A number of amended standards were effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2017, The
amended standards were either not applicable to the Group or had no, or no material, impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

24 Other preparation topics

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments. such as derivatives and contingent purchase price obligations relating to business combinations, which
are measured at fair value, certain components of inventory that are measured at net realizable value, and defined
benefit obligations that are measured under the projected unit credit method.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting poficies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
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SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.a r.1.
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from estimates and assumptions made. The estimates and assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both the current and future periods. Information about the areas of estimation uncertainty and critical
judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements are described in note 2.18.

Reclassification of comparative information

In the current year, the Group has changed its presentation of deferred revenue and a deferred option
premium in the statement of financial position. We have reclassified these balances as the characteristic of the
liabilities’ settlement differs from trade and other payables. They are no longer presented as part of the Group’s
operating payables but as other current and non-current liabilities. Comparative amounts have been reclassified for
consistency. In the comparative year, current deferred revenue of €19.6 million has been reclassified from Trade
and other payables to Other current liabilities. non-current deferred revenue of €54.1 million has been reclassified
from Non-current payables to Other non-current liabilities and a deferred option premium of €5.3 million has been
reclassified from Non-current payables to Other non-current liabilities. Comparative numbers in relevant notes have
also been reclassitied. In the cash flow statement, €3.0 million of reclassification adjustments have been made to
present cash flows from operating activities in the comparative year from Change in trade and other payables to
Change in other assets and liabilities.

1.5 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable retuns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from their respective acquisition date, which is the date on which the
Group obtains control. Subsidiaries are deconsolidated from their respective disposal date. which is the date on
which control ceases. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Interests in joint ventures

A joint veniure is a contractual arrangement in which the Group has joint control and has rights to the net
assets of the arrangement rather than rights to jts assets and obligations for its liabilities. Investments in joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity method. On the date joint control is obtained, joint ventures are
recognized al cost (including transaction costs). Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income is included in the consolidated financial statements until the date on which
joint control ceases. The Group’s share of the profit or loss of its joint ventures {net of income tax) is presented as
part of the Group’s profit or loss from operating activities due to the Group’s close interaction with its joint
ventures,

Intra-group transactions and balances

Intra~-group transactions and balances are eliminated upon consolidation. Unrealized gains arising from
transactions with joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses
are eliminated in the same manner as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by using the acquisition method at the acquisition date, which is

when control is obtained. The consideration transferred is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable
net assets acquired.
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SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.a r.l.
Consolidated financial statemernts
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Goodwill is measured at the acquisition date as the fair value of the consideration transferred (including, if
applicable, the fair value of any previously held equity interests and any non-controlling interests) less the net
recognized amount {which is generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If such a contingent
consideration depends on the achievement of future earnings or other performance targets, any changes in the fair
value are recognized in profit or loss as other income or expenses.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equily securities incurred in
connection with a business combination, ace expensed as incurred.

2.6 Foreign currency

Items included in the financial statements of individual group entities are recognized in their respective
functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which each group entity
operates.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency iransactions are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group entity at
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions, Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the
reporting date are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies that are measured based on historical cost are tranglated at the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign currency exchange gains or losses are generally recognized in profit or loss.

Foreign operations

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including geodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisitions, are translated into Euro at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are transtated into Euro at average rates for the reported periods, which approximate the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. This also applies to the statement of cash flows and all movements in assets and
liabilities as well as any items of other comprehensive income. The foreign currency exchange gains and losses
arising on the translation of the net assets of foreign operations are recognized in other comprehensive income, in
the translation reserve,

When a fareign operation i3 disposed of or liquidated. the cumulative amount in the translation reserve
related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal (or liquidation).
The Group does not apply hedge accounting to the foreign currency exchange differences arising between the
functional currency of the foreign operation and Euro.

Significant exchange rates

The following significant exchange rates against the Euro applied during the periods presented:

Average rate for the year Spot rate as of
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016
1 Brazilian Real {BRL) 0.278 0.260 0.252 0,292
1 Chinese Renminbi (CNY) 0.131 0.136 0.128 0.137
1 Swiss Franc (CHF) 0.900 0918 0.855 0.931
10 Mexican Peso (MXN) 0.469 0.485 0.423 0.459
1 New Zealand Doliar (NZD) 0.629 0.630 0.593 0.660
10 Thai Baht {THB) 0.261 0.256 0.256 0.265

1 US Dollar ($) 0.886 0.904 0.834 0.949
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SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.a r.L
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

2.7 Financial instruments

The accounting applied to non-derivative and derivative financial instruments depends on their
classification. The Group's financial assets and liabilities are classified into the following categories, which are
described in more detail below: loans and receivables, financial liabilities at amortized cost and financial assets and
liabilities al fair value through profit or loss.

The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables and any debt issued on the date when they are
originated. All other financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date, when the entity
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset have expired,
when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership, or when the Group transfers a financial asset but retains the
contractual rights to receive the cash flows but at the same time assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash
flows to another recipient {(and remits the cash flows to the other recipient once having collected an amount from the
original asset without material delay, also being prohibited to sell or pledge the original asset). Any interest in such
a derecognized financial asset that is retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

A financial liability is derecognized (in full or partlv) when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled. expire or replaced by a new liability with substantially modified terms. Any gain or loss arising upon
modification of a financial liability that does not result in derecognition is amortized over the remaining term of the
liability by re-calculating the effective interest rate.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends to
either settle them on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Loans and receivables
Cask and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents mainly comprise of cash at banks and short-term deposits at banks with
matuyrities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. The Group had €2.2 million of cash presented as part
of cash and cash equivalents that was not available for its use as of December 31. 2017 (€0 miltion as of
December 31, 2016). The restricted amount relates to cash collected for the benefit of the Group’s securitization
partner.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs, Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method
less provisions for doubtful debts,

The Group assesses al least at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a trade or other
receivable is impaired. When there is objective evidence that a receivable is impaired, the resulting impairment loss
is recognized in profit or loss. Any subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the same
line item in profit or loss where the original write off was recognized.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction

costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.



SIG Combiblac Group Holdings $.3 r.L
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Loans and other borrowings

i.oans and other borrowings are initially recognized at fair value fess any directiy attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. Loans and other borrowings are classified as current or non-current liabilities depending on if the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement for at feast twelve months after the reporting period.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives

Derivalives are measured at fair value with any related transaction costs expensed as incurred. All
derivatives with a positive fair value are presented as other current or non-current assets in the statement of financial
position, while all derivatives with a negative fair value are presented as other current or non-current liabilities.

The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognized in profit or Joss. Net changes in the fair value
of derivatives entered into as part of the operating business are presented as part of profit from operating activities,
whiie net changes in the fair value of derivatives entered into in relation to the financing of the Group are presented
in other finance income or expenses. The Group does not apply hedge accounting under IFRS.

A derivative embedded in another contract is separated and accounted for separately when its economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of its host contract, a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative. and the host cantract is not measured at
fair value with the fair value changes recognized in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of a separated embedded
derivative are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

2.8 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on
the weighied average cost formula and includes costs incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to
their present location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an
appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net realizable value is the estimated
selling price less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

ftems of property, plant and equipment are measured al cost fess accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on disposals of items of property. plant and equipment are
recognized in profit or loss.

The cost of an acquired or self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment includes any costs
directly atiributable to bringing the asset to the [ocation and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. Borrowing casts that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset form part of the cost of that asset. The cost of the Group’s filling lines also
includes the estimated cost of dismantling to the extent such an amount is recognized as a provision. Subsequent
expenditure is capitalized ouly if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will
flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to~day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated vseful

lives, with depreciation generally recognized in profit or loss. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives for
the current and comparative periads are as follows:

F-13



SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.i r.1.
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Buildings 15 to 40 years
Plant and equipment:
Production-related equipment and machinery 4 to 12 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 to 8 years
Leased assets, lessor (filling lines) 10 years

2,10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease contract transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All ather lzases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

The Group primarily deploys filling lines at customers’ sites under contracts that qualify to be accounted
for as operating lease contracts. The cost of a filling line is capitalized by the Group as part of property, plant and
equipment and depreciated over its estimated useful life. Lease income is recognized as revenue on a straight-line
basis over the leage term.

The Group as lessee

The Group leases a few office buildings and warehouses as well as some equipment under contracts that
qualify to be accounted for as operating lease contracts. Lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group also leases a facility and production equipment under finance lease contracts. The leased assets
are measured initially at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is
reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Minimum lease payments
made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding
liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

211  Intangible assets

Goodwill arising upon business combinations is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
With respect to investments in joint ventures accounted for using the equity method, the carrying amount of
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

The Group’s trademarks are assessed to have an indefinite useful life and are measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangible assets, including customer relationships and technology assets,
have finile useful lives and are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
Gains and losses on disposals of any intangible assets are recognized in profit and loss.

Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Development expenditure is
capitalized only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is technologically and
commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the asset. If the capitalization criteria are not met, development
expenditure is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Due to uncertainties inherent in the development of new
preducts and processes, notably regarding the difficulty to retiably estimate expected future economic benefits,
development costs typically do not meet the capitalization criteria but are recognized as general and administrative
expenses as incurred. Research and development costs {excluding depreciation and amortization expense)
recognized as a component of general and administrative expenses totaled €63.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 and €55.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, with amortization generally recognized in profit or loss. The estimated useful lives of amortizable intangible
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assets for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Customer relationships 10 years
Technology assets (including patented and non-patented technology and know-how) 6 to 10 years
Other (including software) 310 6 years

2,12 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, intangible assets with finite usetul
lives and investments in joint ventures are reviewed regularly and at least annually to identify whether there is an
indication of impairment. 1f an iImpairment indicator exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment on an annual basis and whenever there is
an indication that they may be impaired.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units.
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
business combination in which the goodwill arose.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit,

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is allocated to first reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill atlocated to
the cash generating unit, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the cash generating uniton a
pro-rata basis. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

2.13 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benetits are expensed in profit or loss as the related services are provided. A liability
is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans and
oulstanding annual leave balances if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past services provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Pension obligations

The Group operates various defined benefit plans. The Group's obligation with respect to defined benefit
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of the future benefits that employees have
eamned in return for their services in the current and prior years, discounting that amount to determine the present
value of the Group’s obligation and then deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The discount rate used is the
vield on high-quality corparate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and
that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations. The calculations are performed
annually by qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential
asset for the Group, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of
any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of
economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.
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Remeasurements of the net defined liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan
assets (excluding interest) and, if any, the effects of the asset ceiling (excluding interest) are recognized immediately
in other comprehensive income.

The net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period is determined by
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the
net defined liability/(asset) as of that time, taking into account any changes from contributions and benefit
payments. Net interest expense and other plan expenses are recognized in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that
relates to past services or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. The Group
recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date or whenever an employee aceepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for such benefits. Termination
costs are expensed at the earlier of when the Group ¢an no longer withdraw the offer of the benefits or when the
Group recognizes any related restructuring costs.

2.14  Provisions and contingencies
Pravisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are discounted if the time value of money is material. The unwinding of the
discount is recognized as part of finance expenses. A provision is classified as current or non-current depending on
if the expected timing of the payment of the amounts provided for is more than twelve months after the reporting
period.

A provision for legal claims reflects management's best estimate of the outcome based on the facts known
as of the reporting date.

A provision for warranties is recognized for products under warranty as of the reporting date based upon
known failures and defects as well as sales volumes and past experience of the level of problems reported and
product returns.

A provision for restructuring is recognized when the Group has approved a detailed and formal
restructuring plan, and the restructuring has either commenced or has been publicly announced. No provision is
made for future operating costs.

A provision for dismantling is recognized when the Group has an obligation to pay for dismantling costs
arising upon the return of a filling line. This obligation typically arises upon deployment of the filling line.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by an entity from
a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from a past event to be confirmed by future events
not wholly within the control of the Group, or present obligations arising from a past event of which the outflow of
economic benefits is not probable. or which cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in
the statement of financial position, except for certain items assumed in a business combination. but are separately
disclosed.
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Contingent assets are possible assets arising from a past event to be confirmed by future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. Contingent assels are not recognized in the statement of financial position, but are
separately disclosed.

2.15  Share capital

Non-redeemable preference shares are classified as equity as they bear discretionary dividends, do not
contain any obligations to deliver cash or other financial assets and do not require settlement in a variable number of
the Group’s equity instruments.

2.16 Revenue

Revenue consists of the sale of goods (i.e. sleeves, filling lines, spouts and caps) and the providing of after-
market services and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable net of returns, trade
discounts, velume rebates and other customer incentives. The Group also presents lease income from the
deplayment of filling lines under contracts that qualify to be accounted for as operating lease contracts (see further
note 2.19) and revenue under royalty agreements as part of revenue.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the customer, there is no continuing managerial involvement with the goods to the degree
usually associated with ownership or effective control over the goods, the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably, recovery of the consideration is probable, and the associated costs and possible return of goods can be
estimated reliably. Transfer of risks and rewards of ownership vary depending on the individual contract terms and
can for example occur upon shipment of the goods, upon receipt of the goods and/or upon deployment of a filling
line at a customer location.

When the outcome of a transaction involving rendering of services can be estimated reliably. revenue is
recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period.

217 Income tax

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit or
loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

For subsidiaries in which the profits are not considered to be permanently reinvested, the additional tax
consequences of future dividend distributions are recognized as income tax expense.

Curvent tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in
respect to previous years. Current tax assets and labilities are only oftset if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method. on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements to the
extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future and the Group is in a position to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be
applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future 1axable profits will be available against which they can be
used. Future taxable profits are determined based on business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. The
recoverability of deferred tax assets is reviewed at cach reporting date. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each repotting date and recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset if certain criteria are met.

2.18  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to
make judgments, estimates and asswnptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed as further described in
note 2.4. Management believes that the following accounting policies involve the most significant judgments,
estimates and assumptions.

Accruals for various customer incentive programs

In arriving at net sales, the Group estimates the amount of deductions from sales that are likely to be eamed
or taken by customers in conjunction with incentive programs. These incentives include trade discounts, volume
rebates and other customer incentives. Estimates for each of these programs are based on historical and current
market trends which are affected by the business seasonality and competitiveness of promotional programs being
offered. Estimates are reviewed quarterly for possible revisions.

Impairment testing and recognition of impairment losses

Significant judgment is involved in the annual impairment testing of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives, performed at Group level. These judgments and assumptions used in estimating the
recoverable amount of the Group (in this case, the fair value less costs of disposal) are described in note 12.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment if
there are any impairment indicators. A change in the Group’s intended use of certain assets, such as a decision to
rationalize manufacturing locations, may trigger a future impairment. Value in use calculations require the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from an individual asset or cash generating unit and to determine a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

Income taxes

Determining the Group's werldwide income tax liability requires significant judgment and the use of
estimates and assumptions, some of which are highly uncertain. Each tax jurisdiction’s laws are complex and
subject to different interpretations by the laxpayer and the respective tax authorities. Significant judgment is
required in evaluating the Group's tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties. To the extent actual results
differ from these estimates relating to future periods. and depending on the tax strategies that the Group may
implement, the Group’s financial position may be directly affected.

Realization of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets represent deductions available to reduce taxable income in future years, The Group
evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets by assessing the adequacy of future taxable income, including
reversal of taxable temporary differences, forecasted earnings and available tax planning strategies. The sources of
future taxable income rely heavily on the use of estimates. The Group recognizes deferred tax assets when the
Group considers it probable that the deferred tax assets will be recoverable.
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Measurement of obligations under defined benefit plans

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension plans. Amounts recognized under these plans are
determined using actuarial methods. These actuarial valuations involve assumptions regarding discount rates,
expected salary increases and the retirement age of employees. These assumptions are reviewed at least annually
and reflect estimates as of the measurement date. Any change in these assumptions will impact the amounts reported
in the statement of financial position, plus the net pension expense or income that may be recognized in future
years.

2.19  Adoption of standards and interpretations in 2018 and beyond

A number of new or amended standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on
January 1, 2018 or later and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. The Group
does not plan te adopt these standards and interpretations before their effective dates. Many of the new or amended
standards and interpretations are not applicable to the Group or are expected to have no, or no material, impact on
the consolidated financial statements. The following standards are the most relevant to the Group.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 1S Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 15 is applicable to
all entities and supersedes all existing revenue recognition requirements under iFRS. It applies to al! transactions to
provide goods and services except those in the scope of other standards. IFRS 15 will be effective for periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group will adopt IFRS 15 using the standard’s full retrospective
approach. The Group has completed its assessment of the impact of this new standard and does not expect any
material impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of [FRS 9 Financial fnstruments. IFRS 9 replaces the
guidance in 1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and contains revised requirements in
relation to the classification, measurement and presentation of financial instruments, including derivatives. It also
includes revised guidance on hedge accounting and impairment testing of financial instruments, as well as
clarifications regarding liabilities that do not result in derecognition. IFRS 9 will be effective for periods beginning
on or atter January 1, 2018. IFRS 9 contains certain exemptions from full retrospective application for the
classification and measurement reguirements, including impairment. In line with these. the Group will not restate
comparative information. Any difference between the previous carrying amount and the carrying amount at the date
of initial application will be recognized in opening retained earnings as of January 1, 2018. The Group is in the
process of completing its assessment of the potential impact of adopting IFRS 9. With a possible exception of the
clarifications relating to modification of liabilities, the Group does not expect any material impacts upon the
adoption of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases. [FRS 16 replaces the current guidance under {FRS on
leases and contains new requirements in relation to the accounting for leases by lessees. Most assets under operating
lease contracts will have to be accounted for on-balance sheet by lessees, resulting in an increase of reported assets
and liabilities. IFRS 16 will be effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Group is cwrrently
evaluating the impact of this new standard.
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3. Segment reporting

Information reported to the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM™) for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance is focused on the Group's single operating segment. The CODM
only receives discrete financial information on a Group level and accordingly does not review aperating results on a
lower level than the Group level, neither on a product/service level nor for geographical areas.

The business model of the Group is based on providing aseptic carton solutions, comprised of aseptic
carton packaging filling machines, aseptic carton packaging sleeves, spouts and caps as well as after-market
services.

Adjusted EBITDA

The performance of the Group is assessed by the CODM based on Adjusted EBITDA, which is defined as
profit or Joss before net finance expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, adjusted to exclude
certain items of a significant or unusual nature, including but not limited to acquisition costs. restructuring costs,
unrealized gains or losses on derivatives, gains or losses on the sale of non-strategic assets, asset impairments and
write-downs and equity methad profit, net of cash distributed. Adjusted EBITDA is not a defined performance
measure in IFRS.

Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,
{In € million) 2017 2016
Loss for the period {96.9) (39.9)
Net finance expense 238.7 165.0
Income tax expense 26.2 349
Depreciation and amortization 2659 262.1
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortization (“EBITDA™) 433.9 422.1
Adjustments to EBITDA:
Equity method profit, net of cash distributed 6.2 (2.
Restructuring costs, net of reversals 19.4 18.0
Unrealized (gain)/loss on derivatives (5.2} (3.6)
Acquisition-related costs and adjustments - 1.0
Change in contingent purchase price cbligation 25 325
Other (1.7 (0.5)
Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortization (*Adjusted EBITDA™) 455.1 467.4

In the year ended December 31, 2017, change in contingent purchase price obligation represents the
increase of the Group’s contingent purchase price obligation from €7.5 million to €10 million resulting from the
determination of the consideration that related to the 2016 financial year. In the year ended December 31, 2016,
change in coniingent purchase price obligation represents a combination of the increase of the Group’s contingent
purchase price obligation resulting from the determination of the consideration that related to the 2015 financial
year {an increase of €50 million}, and a decrease of management’s assessment of the fair value of the contingent
purchase price obligation that related to the 2016 financial year (a decrease of €17.5 million). See further notes 4
and 3, and section “Categories of financial instruments and fair value information” in note 20.

The Group initiated restructuring programs focused on reducing costs, streamlining the organization and
adjusting headcount to align more closely with the Group’s needs going forward in the year ended December 31,
2016. The Group continued to implement these programs and initiated new restructuring programs with the same
focus in the year ended December 31, 2017, The programs are expected to be executed over the next two years.
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Other primarily relates to out of period indirect tax recoveries, impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and management fees.

Information about geographical regions

The Group operates six manufacturing plants that produce carton sleeves {two in Germany and one in each
of Austria, China, Brazil and Thailand). It also operates two assembly facilities for filling machines in Germany and
China, a production facility for spouts and caps in Switzerland and a paper mill for the production of liquid
paperboard and folding box board in New Zealand. In addition, the Group’s joint venture in Saudi Arabia operates a
local carton sleeve manufacturing facility. The customer base of the Group includes international companies, large
national and regional companies as well as small local companies.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its non-current assets (total non-
current assets excluding financial instruments, deterred tax assets and post-employment benefit assets) by
geographical regions are detailed below. In presenting information on a geographical basis, revenve is reported
based on the geographic location of customers, while non-current assets are reported based on the geographic
location of the business operations. The non-current assets are pre-dominantly located in the countries in which the
Group’s manufacturing, assembly and production facilities are situated (see abave).

(In € million) Europe Asia  Americas Other ' Total
External revenue

Year ended December 31, 2017 656.8 508.4 3217 177.2 1,664.1
Year ended December 31, 2016 685.7 496.6 289.7 251.8 1,723.8
Non-current assets

As of December 31, 2007 2,100.7 978.4 491.4 2459 3.816.4
As of December 31, 2016 2,240.7 976.0 576.9 266.0 4,059.6

! Other includes Africa, Middle East and Oceania.

In the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, there was no revenue from external
customers in Luxembourg where the Company is domiciled. Non-current assets in Luxembourg were €3.6 million
as of December 31, 2017 and €4.7 million as of December 31, 2016.

Information about major customers

The Group does not have revenue from transactions with a single external customer amounting to 10% or
more of the Group’s revenue in any of the periods presented.
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4. Other income
Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,
(In € million) 2017 2016
Net foreign currency exchange gain - 2.3
Net change in fair value of derivatives 52 36
Income from miscellaneous services 3.6 4.1
Rental income 09 0.9
Change in contingent purchase price obligation - 17.5
Other 2.0 5.8
Total other income 11.7 342

Net change in fair value of derivatives consists of fair value changes on commodity and foreign currency
exchange derivatives entered into as part of the operating business.

In the year ended December 31, 2016, change in contingent purchase price obligation represents a decrease
of management’s assessment of the fair value of the contingent purchase price obligation that related to the 2016
financial year. See further section “Categories of financial jnstruments and fair value information™ in note 20.

5. Other expenses
Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,
(In € million) 2017 2016
Net foreign currency exchange loss 3.9 -
Acquisition-related costs and adjustments - (1.0}
Change in contingent purchase price obligation (2.5) (50.0)
Other - (0.1)
Tatal other expenses (5.6) {(51.1)

In the year ended December 31, 2017, change in contingent purchase price obligation represents the
increase of the Group’s contingent purchase price obligation resulting from the determination of the consideration
that related to the 2016 financial year. In the year ended December 31, 2016, change in contingent purchase price
obligation represents the increase of the Group’s contingent purchase price obligation resulting from the
determination of the consideration that related to the 2015 financial year. See further section “Categories of
financial instruments and fair value infarmation™ in note 20.
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6. Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses recognized in the statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income were
€313.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 and €311.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016.

7. Finance income and expenses

Year Year

ended ended

December 31, December 31,

{in € million) 2017 2016
Interest income 29 1.8
Net change in fair value of derivatives 7.3 12.0
Finance income 10.2 13.8
Interest expense on:
- Notes (52.3) {52.3)
- Senior secured credit facilities (80.9) (90.2)
- Finance lease liabilities ©.2) -
Amortization of transaction costs and original issue discount (17.2) (18.1)
Net foreign currency exchange loss (86.9) (7.0
[nterest expense on interest rate swaps 3.5 4.4)
Other (1.9 (6.7)
Finance expenses (248.9) (178.8)
Net finance expense (238.7) {165.0)

Net change in fair value of derivatives consists of fair value changes on financing-related derivatives.

[n the year ended December 31, 2017, the net foreign exchange loss primarily consists of negative
retranslation effects on loans and borrowings resulting from the weakening of the Swiss Franc against the Euro,
partially offset by the weakening of the U.S. Dollar against the Swiss Franc. Other finance expenses primarily
consist of revolver commitment fees and factoring and securitization expenses.

In the year ended December 31, 2016, the net foreign exchange loss primarily consists of negative
retranslation effects on loans and borrowings resulting from the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Swiss
Frane, partially offset by the weakening of the Euro against the Swiss Franc and the strengthening of the Brazilian
Real against the Euwro. Other finance expenses primarily consist of revolver commitment fees and factoring
expenses.

Refer to note 15 for information about the Group’s loans and berrowings,
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8. Income tax

Amounts recognized in profit or loss

Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,

(In € million) 2017 2016
Current year (59.6) (89.2)
Adjustments for prior years 23 (0.9)
Current tax expense (57.3) (90.1)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 348 53.8
Tax rate modifications (1.3) 1.1
Adjustments for prior years {2.4) 0.3
Deferred tax benefit 31.1 55.2
Income tax expense (26.2) (34.9)

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income

The Group has recognized a deferred tax expense of €3.2 million relating to defined benefit plans for the
year ended December 31, 2017 and a deferred tax benefit of €0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 in

other comprehensive incotne.

Reconciliation of effective tax expense

Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,

{In € nuilion) 2017 2016
L.oss before income tax (70.7) (5.0
Income tax using the Luxembourg tax rate 27.08% (year 2017) 19.1 -
Income tax using the Luxembourg tax rate 29.22% (year 2016) - 1.5
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (33.3) (16.2)
Non-deductible expenses (3.6) (10.5)
Tax exempt income 7.8 68
Withholding tax (6.6) 5.9
Tax rate modifications (1.3) 1.1
Unrecognized tax losses and temporary differences (L.0) (0.8)
Tax uncertainties 0.2) (0.5)
Tax on undistributed profits (14 (9.8)
Ower/(under) provided in prior years (0.1 (0.6)
Total income tax expense (26.2) (34.9)

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax assets of €2.5 million as of December 31, 2017 {€4.1 million as of December 31, 2016)
represent the amount of income taxes recoverable with respect to current and prior years and arise from the payment
of tax in excess of the amounts due to the relevant tax authorities. Current tax liabilities of €35.8 million as of
December 31, 2017 (€51.1 million as of December 31, 2016) represent the amount of income taxes payable with

respect to current and prior years,
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Current tax liabilities include an amount of €2.3 million (€0.0 million as of December 31, 2016) that will
be reimbursed by RGHL in line with the share purchase agreement. The same amount has been recognized as part
of other receivables.

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities

Net

Property, Tax loss deferred tax

plant and Intangible Employee carry- Other assets/
(In € million) equipment  assets benefits forwards items  (liabilities)
Carrying amount as of January 1, 2016 (104.8) (223.0) (0.8) 119 53 (311.4)
Recognized in profit or loss 8.6 22.1 2.2 3.2) 25.5 55.2
Recognized in other comprehensive income - - 0.] - - 0.1
Effect of movements in exchange rates (1.3) (5.4) {0.2) 1.6 0.5 (5.0)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2016 (97.7) (206.3) 1.3 10.3 31.3 (261.1)
Carrying amount as of January 1, 2017 {97.7) {206.3) 1.3 10.3 31.3 {261.1)
Recognized in profit or loss 2.3 20.0 0.5 (1.7 10.0 311
Recognized in other comprehensive income - - {5.2) - - (5.2)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 25 10.0 i.5 (0.9) (2.5) 10.6
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2017 (92.9) {176.3) {1.9) 7.7 388 (224.6)

The net deterred tax asseis for other items mainly relate to inventories, receivables, deferred revenue and
derivatives.

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
{In € million) 2017 2016
[ncluded in the statement of financial position as:
Deferred tax assets 29 23
Deferred tax liabilities (227.5) (263.4)
Total recognized net deferred tax liabilities {224.6) {261.1)

Unrecognized deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized with respect to tax losses in the amount of €9.9 million as of
December 31, 2017 (€9.6 million as of December 31, 2016) because it is not probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the Group can utilize the benefits therefrom. The unrecognized tax losses do not expire
under the current local tax legislations.
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9. Trade and other receivables

As of As of

December 31, December 31,

{In € million} 2017 2016
Trade receivables 176.6 157.4
Pravisions for doubtfil debts (3.5) 4.5)
Total trade receivables, net of provision for doubtful debts 173.1 152.9
Related party trade receivables 238 39.4
Related party loan receivables 0.5 11
Note receivables 353 438
VAT receivables 16.3 243
Other receivables 383 319
Total current trade and other receivables 287.3 293.4
Non-current VAT receivables 2.1 -
QOther non-current receivables 58 6.3
Total non-current receivables 79 6.3
Total current and non-current receivables 295.2 299.7
Aging of trade receivables, net of provisions for doubtful debts

As of As of

December 31, December 31,

{In € million) 2017 2016
Current 1453 133.0
Past due up to 29 days 21.0 15.0
Past due 30 days to 89 days 37 43
Past due more than 90 days 3.1 0.6
Total trade receivables, net of provision for doubtful debts 173.1 152.9

Management believes that the recognized provision for doubtful debts sufficiently covers the risk of default
based on historical payment behavior and analysis of customer credit risk.

Securitization program

The Group entered into an asset-backed securitization program in the first quarter of 2017 under which it
sells a portion of its sleeves related trade receivables without recourse to a special purpose entity. This entity is not
controlled, and therefore not consolidated, by the Group. The trade receivables sold qualify for derecognition by the
Group. The Group transfers the contractual rights to the cash flows of the trade receivables at their nominal value
minys a retained reserve in exchange for cash. The net amount is presented as part of other current receivables and
represents the Group’s right to receive this amount once the trade receivables sold have been settled by the
customers.

Trade receivables sold under the securitization program amounted to €99.3 million as of December 31,
2017, of which €83.9 million has been derecognized and €15.4 million, representing the retained reserve, is
presented as part of other current receivables. The retained reserve represents the Group's maximum exposure to atty
losses in respect of trade receivables previously sold under the program. The interest expense paid under the asset-
backed securitization program amounted to €1.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 and is presented as
part of other finance expenses.

F-26



SIG Combibloe Group Holdings 8.4 .
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Factoring programs

The new securitization program replaced the Group’s non-recourse factoring program under which trade
receivables sold to the factoring parties qualified for derecognition by the Group. The Group maintains a minor
factoring program under which trade receivables sold by the Group quality for derecognition. The factored amounts
totaled €23.0 million as of December 31, 2017 (€101.7 millien as of December 31, 2016). The interest expense paid
under the factoring program amourted to €0.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2617 (€1.5 million as of
December 31, 2016) and is presented as part of other finance expenses.

10. Inventories

As of As of

December 31, December 31,

{In € million) 2017 2016
Raw materials and consumables 51.0 49.9
Work in progress 13.6 17.1
Finished goods 57.8 58.6
Total inventories 122.4 125.6

As of December 31. 2017, inventories included a provision of €13.2 million due to write-downs to net
realizable value {€11.]1 million as of December 31, 2016).

Raw materials and consumables recognized as an expense in cost of sales in the statement of profit and loss

and other comprehensive income amounted to €666.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 (€719.7 million
in the year ended December 31, 2016).

11. Property, plant and equipment

Carrying amount

Plant Leased
and Workin  assets
{In € million) Land Buildings equipment progress  lessor Total
Cost 41.8 1743 508.5 157.8 4224 1,304.8
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses - {18.0) (162.0) - (96.0) (276.0)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2016 41.8 156.3 346.5 157.8 3264 1,028.8
Cost 39.7 168.1 4954 2092 489.1 14015
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses - (26.1) (221.4) - (1386) (386.1)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2017 39.7 142.0 274.0 209.2 350.5 10154
Carrying amount as of January 1, 2016 399 154.1 368.1 1044 293.9 960.4
Additions - 1.0 14.4 164.3 52 184.9
Disposals - - (1.8} - 0.7) {2.5)
Depreciation - (9.9} (89.9) - (589) (158.7)
Transfers - 5.2 399  (116.7) 71.6 -
Eft¥ect of movements in exchange rates 1.9 59 15.8 58 15.3 44.7
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2016 41.8 156.3 346.5 157.8 3264 11,0288
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Plant Leased

and Workin assets
{In € million) Land Buildings equipment progress lessor Total
Carrying amount as of January 1, 2017 41.8 156.3 346.5 157.8 326.4 1,0288
Additions - 1.3 11.3 201.6 9.6 2238
Disposals - - (8.2) (5.2) (0.3) (13.7)
Depreciation - 100 (86.6) - (666) (163.2)
Impairment losses - - (0.9) - (1.0) (1.9
Transfers - 0.7 31.2 (1355 104.2 0.6
Effect of movements in exchange rates (2.1) (6.3) (19.3) (9.5) (21.8) (59.0)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2017 39.7 142.0 274.0 209.2 350.5 1,0154

Leased assets comprise filling lines that are deployed at customers” sites under contracts accounted for as
operating lease contracts, Work in progress relates to construction of filling machines to be deployed at customers’
sites and to construction of various types of production equipment used by the Group in its manufacturing plants
and assembly facilities.

The Group leases a faality and production equipment under contracts accounted for as finance lease
contracts, The net carrying amount of leased assets was €13.0 million as of December 31, 2017 (€0.7 million as of
December 31, 2016).

Depreciation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the following components in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,
{In € million) 2017 2016
Cost of sales 158.2 154.0
Selling. marketing and distribution expenses 1.4 1.1
General and administrative expenses 3.6 3.6
Total depreciation 163.2 158.7
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12. Intangible assets

Carrying amount

Technology
Customer  and other

(In € million) Goodwill Trademarks relationships assets Total
Cost 1,630.4 3129 653.3 3732 2,969.8
Accumulated amortization

and impairment losses - - {117.5) (72.3) (189.8)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2016 1,630.4 3129 535.8 300.9 2,780.0
Cost 1,577.5 287.1 629.4 345.6 2,839.6
Accumulated amortization

and impairment losses - - {176.1) (102.5) (278.6)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2017 1,577.5 287.1 453.3 243.1 2,561.0
Carrying amount as of January 1, 2016 1,611.2 3.2 585.4 333.7 2,840.5
Additions “ - - 4.1 4.1
Amortization - - (64.0) {39.4) (103.4)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 19.2 2.7 14.4 2.5 38.8
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2016 1,630.4 3129 5358 3009 2,780.0
Carrying amount as of January 1, 2017 1,630.4 3129 535.8 300.9 1,780.0
Additions - - - 34 34
Disposals - - - {0.1}) 0.n
Amortization - - (64.2) (38.5) (102.7)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (52.9) (25.8) (18.3) (22.6) (119.6)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2017 1,577.5 287.1 453.3 243.1 2,561.0

The trademarks are assessed to have an indefinite useful life considering the long history of the SIG brand

and its expected future continuous use.

Amortization

Amortization of intangible assets is recognized in the following components in the statements of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income.

Year Year

ended ended
December 31, December 31,

{In € million) 2017 2016
Cost of sales 66.5 56.9
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses 0.1 0.1
General and administrative expenses 36.1 36.4
Total amaortization 102.7 103.4

F-29




S1G Cambibloc Group Heldings 8.4 r.L
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

Goodwill with carrying amount of €1,577.5 million as of December 31, 2017 (€1,630.4 million as of
December 31, 2016) and trademarks with an indefinite useful life with a carrying amount of €287.1 million as of
December 31, 2017 (€312.9 million as of December 31, 2016) are not subject to amortization but tested for
impairment on an annual basis and whenever there is an impairment indicator.

Goodwill is tested for impairment on the Group level. The Group represents the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and is not larger than an operating segment (before
aggregation). Trademarks are also tested for impairment on the Group level as they do not generate cash inflows on
their own and all 8IG entities benefit from the trademarks, The Group is accordingly the cash generating unit that is
tested for annual impairment to determine if goodwill and trademarks are impaired.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the Group would exceed its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.

For goodwili and trademarks, fair value less costs of disposal has been estimated. The fair value has been
estimated using the actual adjusted EBITDA result for the last twelve months ended September 30, 2017 (last
twelve months ended September 30, 2016) multiptied by an eamings multiple. An earnings multiple of 9.5x (9.3x
for the comparative period) has been applied, which is consistent with the prudent end of the range of earnings
multiples of comparative companies in the packaging industry. Costs of disposal were estimated to be 1.25% of the
fair value for both periods, which is consistent with the prudent end of the range of estimates based on historical
experience of the ultimate owner of the Group. No impairment was identified.

As the earnings multiple and disposal cost assumptions are already at the prudent end of the estimate range,
management considers it unlikely that any realistic change in these assumptions would result in an impairment loss.
However, adjusted EBITDA is sensitive to movements. A decrease of adjusted EBIDTA of more than 5.9% in the
current period would result in an impairment loss (assuming all other assumptions remain constant). For the
comparative period, a decrease of adjusted EBITDA of more than 1.6% would have resulted in an impairment loss,

The assessment of fair value is categorized as level 3 fair value based on the inputs used in the valuation
technique.
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13. Investments in joint ventures

The Group has investments in two joint ventures:

Reporting Country of  Interest Interest

date incorporation held 2017 held 2016
S1G Combibloc Obeikan Company Limited Dec. 31 Saudi Arabia 50% 50%
SIG Combibloc Obeikan FZCO Dec. 31 UA.E 50% 50%

51G Combibloc Obeikan Company Limited operates a carton sleeve manufacturing facility in Saudi
Arabia. Both the joint ventures deploy filling lines in the Middle East and Africa and provide sleeves and other
associated products and services to their customers.

Summary financial information
The following tables provide summary financial information about the two joint ventures, representing the

amounts presented in the IFRS financial statements of the joint ventures and not adjusted for the Group’s ownership
percentage:

Non- Non-
Current current Total Current current Total Net

{In € million) assets  assets  assets liabilities liabilities liabilities assets
December 31, 2017
SIG Combibloc Obeikan Company

Limited, Saudi Arabia 70.4 83.1 158.5 60.1 44.4 104.5 54.0
SIG Combibloc Obeikan FZCO, U.AE. 995 1229 2224 85.1 80.0 165.1 57.3
Total 1699 211.0 3809 145.2 124.4 269.6 1.3
December 31, 2016
SIG Combibloc Obeikan Company

Limited, Saudi Arabia 90.0 1045 194.5 97.7 56.8 154.5 40.0
SIG Combibloc Obeikan FZCO, U.AE. 102.0 1236 2259 61.5 74.0 135.5 90.4
Total 1920 2284 4204 159.2 130.8 290.0 130.4

Profit

{fn € miltion) Revenue Expenses  after tax
2017
SIG Combibloc Obeikan Company Limited, Saudi Arabia 177.4 (156.3) 21.1
SIG Combibloc Obeikan FZCO, U.AE. 237.7 {221.2) 16.5
Total 415.1 (377.5) 37.6
2016
SIG Combibloc Obeikan Company Limited, Saudi Arabia 181.1 (163.3) 17.8
$1G Combibloc Obeikan FZCO, U.A.E. 243.0 (217.9) 258
Total 424.1 (381.2) 42.9
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Carrying amount

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,

{In € million) 2017 2016
Carrying amount as of the beginning of the period 219.7 216.3
Share of profit, net of income tax 18.8 214
Dividends received (25.0) (19.3)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (6.3) 1.5
Other (0.3) (0.2)
Carrying amount as of the end of the period 206.9 219.7
Amount of goodwill in carrying amount of joint ventures 151.2 154.5
Other

There are currently no restrictions with respect to the transter of funds from the joint ventures to the Group
in the form of cash dividends or repayment of capital contributions. With respect to SIG Combibloe Obeikan FZCO
and the year ended December 31, 2016, the maximum dividend or cash distribution that could be paid to the Group
could not exceed 75% of the prior year's profit.

As of December 31, 2017, the Group has €24.3 million of guarantees given to banks granting credit
facilities to §1G Combibloc Obeikan Company Limited (€26.2 million as of December 31, 2016).

14, Trade and other payables

Asof As of
December 31, December 31,

{In € million) 2017 2016
Trade payables 152.7 165.1
Related party payables 0.1 25
Accruals for various customer incentive programs 107.2 877
VAT payables 8.8 124
Accrued interest third parties 20.1 19.9
Other payables and acerued expenses 121.2 99.1
Total current trade and other payables 410.1 386.7
Non-current payables 4.7 i8
Total non-current payables 4.7 1.8
Total trade and other payables 414.8 388.5

The Group has in the current year changed its presentation of deferred revenue and a deferred option
premium to be presented as part of Other liabilities rather than as Trade and other payables. The comparative
amounts have been reclassified. See also notes 2.4 and 18.
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15. Loans and borrowings
Overview

The table below shows the carrying amount of the Group’s loans and borrowings.

As of As of
December 31, December 31,

(In € million) 2007 2016
Senior secured credit facilities 20.7 22.1
Finance lease liabilities 1.7 0.2
Current loans and borrewings 22.4 223
Notes 675.9 676.2
Senior secured credit facilities 1,847.7 2,023.6
Finance lease labilities 10.6 0.3
Non-current loans and borrowings 2,534.2 2,700.1
Total loans and borrowings 2,556.6 2,722.4

The following table presents the components of the carrying amount of the loans and borrowings.

As of As of
December 31, December 31,

(In € million) 2017 2016
Naotes
Principal amount 675.0 675.0
Deferred transaction costs (22.4) (25.1)
Bifurcated embedded derivative 23.3 269
Carrying amount of notes 675.9 676.2
Senior secured credit facilities
Principal amount (including repayments) 1,939.4 2,140.2
Deferred original issue discount 6.3) 8.4)
Deferred transaction costs (53.4) {69.2)
Bifurcated embedded derivatives (11.3) (16.9)
Carrying amount of senior secured credit facilities 1,868.4 2,045.7
Carrying amount of finance lease liahilities 12.3 (.5
Total loans and borrowings 2,556.6 2,722.4

Notes

On February 10, 2015, the SIG Combibloc Holdings S.C.A. issued €675 million aggregate principal
amount of 7.75% senior notes due on February 15, 2023, The interest due on the notes is payable semi-annually.
The notes are traded on the Global Exchange Market of the Irish Stock Exchange. The fair value of the notes is
€704 million as of December 31, 2017 (€726 million as of December 31, 2016)

The notes are redeemable at par between February 15, 2020 and February 15, 2023, The notes may under
certain circumstances be redeemed earlier, but at a higher redemption price. The Group separately accounts for an
embedded derivative in respect of its early redemption option relating to the notes, which is presented as part of
other non-current assets in the statement of financial position.
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The obligations under the notes are guaranteed on a senior subordinated basis by group subsidiaries in
Luxembourg, Switzerland, the United States, Germany, Brazil, Austria, the United Kingdom and New Zealand. The
indenture governing the notes contains eustomary restrictive covenants. It also contains customary events of default.
The Group was in compliance with all covenants and there were no events of default as of December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016.

Senior secured credit facilities

The Group’s senior secured credit facilities consist of a Euro-denominated seven year term loan facility of
€1.050 million and a U.S. Dollar-denominated seven year term loan facility of $1,225 million. The term loans
mature in March 2022, but can be repaid in whole or part at any time before maturity {without premium or penalty,
subject to the soft call premium referred to below), The fair value of the term loans is €1,949 million as of
December 31, 2017 (€2,156 million as of December 31, 2016).

The interest terms on the U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan facility are LIBOR with a floor of [.00% plus
a margin of 3.00%.

The Group completed a re-pricing of its Euro-denominated term loan facility, with an effective date of
October 13, 2017. The margin decreased from Euribor 3.75% to 3.25% while the floor of 0% remained unchanged.
A 1.00% soft call premium was agreed to the extent that the term foan is re-priced within six months of the re-
pricing effective date. Directly related transaction costs that were incurred to execute the madification of the credit
agreement adjusted the carrying amount of the Euro-denominated term loan and will be amortised over the
remaining term of the loan.

The term loans will be repaid in equal quartetly installments of 0.25% of the principal amounts, with the
remaining balance due at maturity. Interest is paid on a monthly basis.

In November 2017, the Group voluntarily repaid €46.7 million of its U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan in
addition to the required quarterly repayment. In December 2016, the Group voluntarily repaid €33.2 million of its
U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan.

The Group separately accounts for two embedded derivatives in respect of the embedded interest rate
floors in the term loans, which are presented as part of other current and non-current liabilities in the statement of
financial position.

The obligations under the senior secured credit facilities are guaranteed by group subsidiaries in
Luxembourg, Switzerand, the United States. Germany, Brazil, Austria, the United Kingdom and New Zealand. As
of December 31, 2017, 66% of the Group’s assets are pledged as collateral under the senior secured credit facilities
(68% as of December 31, 2016). The credit agreement contains customary confirmative and negative covenants. it
also contains customary events of default. The Group was in compliance with all covenants and there were no
events of default as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.

The senior secured credit facilities also include a multi-currency revelving credit facility of €260 million,
which matures in March 2021. The applicable margin for the Euro-currency amounts drawn under the revolving
credit facility is 3.0%. The Group pays 1.125% of the undrawn revolver amount per year for the right to use the
revolving credit facility. The amount available under the revolving credit facility is €2558 million as of
December 31, 2017 (€257.4 million as of December 31, 2016) due to €4.2 million of letters of credit outstanding
under an ancillary facility (€2.6 million as of December 31, 2016).
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Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows.

Future Present value of
minimum minimum lease
lease payments Interest payments
(In € miliion) 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Less than | year 1.9 02 0.2 - 1.7 0.2
Between | and 5 years 9.2 0.3 0.7 - 8.5 03
More than 5 years 2.2 - 0.1 - 2.1
13.3 0.5 1.0 - 12.3 0.5

In the year ended December 31, 2017, the Group entered into sale {at carrying amount) and leaseback
transactions relating to one of its facilities and to some of its production equipment that resulted in finance leases
with corresponding initial liabilities in the total amount of €13.1 million.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Fair value  Effect of

Cash flows changes move-
from/(used in) and other ments in
Jan.1 financing operating noncash exchange Dec. 31

{In € million) 2017  activities activities movements  rates 2017
Principal 2,815.2 (67.9) - - (132.9) 26144
Deferred transaction costs 94.9) (1.5) - 16.7 39 (75.8)
Original issue discount (8.4) - - 1.7 0.4 (6.3)
Embedded derivatives 10.0 - - - 2.0 12.0
Loans and borrowings, excluding finance

iease liabilities 2,721.9 (69.4) - 184  {126.6) 2,544.3
Finance lease liabilities 0.5 11.8 - - - 12.3
Total loans and borrowings 2,722.4 {57.6) - 18.4 (126.6) 2.,556.6
Capitalized cost for revolving credit facility .7 - 1.1 - 3.6)
Interest: Accrued/paid 19.9 - {140 140.3 - 20.1

2,737.6 (57.6) (140.1) 1598  (126.6) 2,573.1

Derivative {assets)/liabilities arising from
financing activities (49.3) - (3.5) 3.7 - (56.5)
Deferred option premium 5.3 - - (2.7) - 2.6

Total (assets)/liabilities from financing
activities and cash/non-cash changes 2,693.6 (57.6) {143.6) 1534  (126.6) 2,519.2
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16. Employee benefits

Overview of employee benefit liabilities

As of As of
December 31, Becember 31,
{In € nmullion) 2017 2016
Salaries and wages accrued 19.1 25.0
Provision for annual leave 7.4 7.6
Provision for other emplayee benefits 0.7 1.0
Defined benetit obligations:

Pension benefits 106.4 108.3
Total employee benefits 133.6 141.9
Current 265 3246
Non-current 107.1 109.3
Total employee benefits 133.6 141.9

Defined benefit obligations

The Group makes contributions to defined benefit pension plans which define the level of pension benefit
an employee will receive on retirement, The Group operates defined benefit pension plans in countries including
Austria, France, Germany, Indonesia, Switzerland, Taiwan and Thailand. The majority of the Group’s pension
obligations are in Switzerland and subject 10 goevernmental regulations relating to the funding of the retirement
ptans. The Group generally funds its retirement plans equal to the annual minimum funding requirements specified
by government regulations covering each plan. The Group has generally provided aggregated disclosures in respect
of these plans on the basis that these plans are not exposed to materially different risks.

The Group’s largest pension plan is the Swiss Retirement Plan. As of December 31, 2017, the Swiss
Retirement Plan comprises 78% (80% as of December 31, 2016) of the Group’s present value of pension plan
obligations. Therefore, certain information applicable to the Swiss Retirement Plan has been separately disclosed.
As of December 31. 2017, the Swiss Retirement Plan assets exceeded the present value of its pension obligations by
€131.3 million (€117.8 miliion as of December 31, 2016). An assessment of the investment strategy of the Swiss
Retirement Plan is performed yearly.

Expected annual contributions to the Group’s defined benefit pension plans during the year ending
December 31, 2018 are estimated to be €5.0 million. The Group’s pension plans had a weighted average duration of
13 years as of December 31, 2017 (12 years as of December 31, 2016).
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Movement in net defined benefit obligation

Information about the net defined benefit obligation as of and for the vear ended December 31, 2017 (the
columns labelled 2017) and the year ended December 31, 2016 {the columns labelled 2016) is included below.

Defined benefit Fair value Net defined benefit
obligation of plan assets Hability/(asset)

(In € million) 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Carrying amount as of the beginning
of the year 551.6 550.9 (561.1) (558.7) (9.5) (7.8)
Service cost 74 8.6 - - 74 8.6
Interest cost/{income) KR 4.1 {2.5) (2.5} 1.4 1.6
Administrative expenses - - 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Curtailments - 0.1} - - - (0.1)
Total expense/(income) recognized in
profit or loss 11.3 12.6 (2.0) 2.0) 9.3 10.6
Actuarial {gains)/losses arising from:

Demographic assumptions 4.7 8.6 - - 4.7 8.6

Financial assumptions {2.6) 7.8 - - (2.6) 7.8
Return on plan assets,

excluding interest income - - (33.0 (23.1) (33.0) (23.1)
Tetal remeasurement (gains)/losses
included in other comprehensive income 21 16.4 (33.0) 23.1) (30,9 (6.7)
Contributions by the Group - - (4.5) 4.7 (4.5) (4.7)
Contributions by plan participants 1.6 1.6 (1.6) (1.6) - -
Benefits paid by the plans (30.8) (33.9) 30.8 339 - -
Effect of movements in exchange rates (35.6) 4.0 46.3 (4.9) 10.7 (0.9)
Total other movements  (64.8) (28.3) 71.0 22.7 6.2 (5.6)
Carrying amount as of the end
of the year 500.2 551.6 {525.1) (561.1) (24.9) (9.5)
Comprised of®

Swiss Retirement Plan 3893 4389 (520.6) (556.7) (131.3) (117.8)

All other plans 110.9 1127 (4.5) (4.4) 106.4 108.3
Carrying amount as of the end
of the year 500.2 551.6 {523.1) (561.1) (24.9) 9.5)
Included in the statement of financial
position as:

Other non-current assets (13L.3) (117.8)

Employee benefits/(liability) 106.4 108.3
Total net defined pension benefits (24.9) (9.5)
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Expense recognized in profit or loss

The net pension expense is recognized in the following components in the statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income,

Year Year
ended ended
December 31, December 31,
(In € million) 2017 2016
Cost of sales 4.1 43
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses 0.9 1.0
General and administrative expenses 4.3 53
Total net pension expense 9.3 10.6
thereof Swiss Retirement Plan 5.1 6.4
Plan assets
As of As of
December 31, December 31,
{In € million) 2017 2016
Equity instruments 1335 1529
Debt instruments 213.7 2364
Real estate 146.0 £53.7
Other 319 18.1
Total plan assets 525.1 561.1

Approximately 99% of total plan assets are held by the Swiss Retirement Plan as of December 31, 2017
(99% as of December 31, 2016). The debt instruments consist principally of corporate and government bonds. The
equity and debt instrument values are based on quoted market prices in active markets. The real estate is held
through unlisted funds. The investment policy of the Swiss Retirement Plan is to target an asset mix of around 25%
equity instruments, 45% debt instruments, 25% real estate funds and hold 5% in cash.

Actuoarial assumptions

Swiss Retirement Plan All plans
As of Asof As of As of
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
{In € million) 2017 2016 2017 2016
Discount rates 0.55% 0.435% 0.55%-6.50% 0.45%-8.25%
Future salary increases 1.50% 2.00% 0.0% - 9.0% 0.0% - 9.0%

While the Swiss Retirement Plan does not provide for compulsory benefit increases for pensioners,
increases have been granted at the discretion of the foundation board, depeding on the current funding situation.
The mortality table used by the plan for 2017 and 2016 was BVG 2015 GT.
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Sensitivity analysis
The assumed discount rate and future salary increases are the assumptions with the most significant effect

on the amount of the defined benefit obligation. The table below shows the effect on the defined benefit obligation
of a change in these assumptions.

Swiss Retirement Plan All plans
As of As of As of As of
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

(In € million} 2017 2016 2017 2016
Discount rates

0.5% increase (1.2) {2.1) (9.5) {10.3)

0.5% decrease 4.2 4.9 13.6 143
Future salary increases

9.5% increase 1.0 L7 L8 25

0.5% decrease (1.0) {1.6) (L7) (2.3)
17. Provisions

Product

(I € milhon) Legal warranty Restructuring Other Total
Carrying amount as of January 1, 2016 23 74 6.1 131.8 147.3
Provisions made 0.3 7.9 (8.2 53.8 80.2
Provisions used (0.1) (5.4) (6.3) (150.1) (161.9)
Provisions reversed (1.1) (1.6) 0.2) (18.3) 21.2)
Effect of movements in exchange rates - 0.1 - {04) (0.3)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2016 1.4 34 17.8 16.5 44.1
Current 0.2 8.4 9.1 8.3 260
Non-current 1.2 - 8.7 8.2 18.1
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2016 1.4 8.4 17.8 16.5 44,1
Carrying amount as of January 1,2017 1.4 8.4 17.8 16.5 44.1
Provisions made 0.5 89 19.9 7.2 36.5
Provisions used 0.1) (6.4) (12.4) (11.3) (30.2)
Provisions reversed {0.1) 3.5 0.5) (2.2) (6.3)
Effect of movements n exchange rates {0.1) (0.2) 0.1} {0.9) (1.3)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2017 1.6 7.2 24.7 9.3 42.8
Current 0.3 72 16.5 0.3 243
Non-current 1.3 - 8.2 9.0 18.5
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2017 1.6 7.2 24.7 93 428

Restructuring provision
The restructuring provision relates primarily to restructuring programs focused on reducing costs,

streamlining the organization and adjusting headcount to align more closely with the Group’s needs going forward.
The programs are expected to be executed over the next two years.
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Other provisions

The changes of other provisions in the current and comparative years mainly relate to the Group’s
contingent purchase price obligation related to the 2015 and 2016 financial years (see further note 3 and section
“Categories of financial instruments and fair value information™ in note 20). The Group’s proviston for costs arising
upon dismantling of filling lines is also included in other provisions.

18, Other liabilities

As of As of
December 31, December 31,

{In € million) 2017 2016
Current deferred revenue 259 19.6
Current derivative liabilities 83 15.6
Total other current liabilities 34.2 35.2
Non-current deferred revenue 74.4 541
Deferred option premium 2.6 53
Non-current derivative liabilities 12,6 25.6
Total other non-current liabilities 89.6 85.0
Total other current and non-current liabilities 123.8 120.2

The Group has in the current year changed its presentation of deferred revenue and a deferred option
premium to be presented as part of Other liabilities rather than as Trade and other payables. The comparative
amounts have been reclassified, See also notes 2.4 and 14.

19, Capital and reserves

The share capital of SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.a r.l. is held indirectly by Onex Corporation,
certain members of Group management and a number of co-investors.

As of December 31, 2013, the share capital consists of 214,864,619 shares totaling €1,155.0 million, of
which €2.1 million is share capital and €1,152.9 million is additional paid-in capital.

On August 31, 2016, additional equity contributions of €0.6 million were made. An additional
95,928 shares with a nominal value of €0.01 per share were issued and fully paid, of which €0.0 million of share
capital and additional paid-in capital of €0.6 million.

As of December 31, 2016, the share capital consists of 214,960,547 shares totaling €1,155.6 million, of
which €2.1 million is share capita and €1,153.5 million is additional paid-in capital.

On June 30, 2017, additional equity contributions of €0.7 million were made. An additional 92,693 shares
with a nominal value ot €0.01 per share were issued and fully paid, of which €0.1 million of share capital and
additional paid-in capital of €0.6 million.

As of December 31, 2017, the share capital consists of 215,053,240 shares totaling €1,156.3 million, of
which €2.2 million is share capital and €1,154.1 million is additional paid-in capital.
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The 1able below provides an overview of the shares issued as of December 31, 2017, all fully paid.

Non-
redeemable
Initial Ordinary preference
ordinary shares shares
Number of shares shares {class Al-A5) {class P1-PS) Total shares
Balance as of December 31, 2015 14,864,746 99,999,999 99,999,874 214,864,619
Capital increase on August 31, 2016 6,356 42,758 46,814 95,928
Balance as of December 31, 2016 14,871,102 190,042,757 104,046,688 214,960,547
Capital increase on June 30, 2017 6,259 42,107 44,327 92,693
Balance as of December 31, 2017 14,877,361 100,084,864 100,091,015 215,053,240

The shares are divided into different categories with each share entitted to one vote at shareholders
meetings. The nominal value of each share is €0.01. Right 1o dividends and rights in case of dissolution of the
Company vary depending upon the calegory of shares and the respective class within each category. Whether
dividends are paid or the shares are redeemed is solely at the discretion of the Company.

The holders of the preference shares are entitled to an anonual preferred dividend of between 8.9% and
9.1% of the amount paid for the shares and any preferred dividend not declared and distributed in previous years.
The percentage varies between the share classes, of which class P1 having the lowest percentage. The different
classes materially include the same number of shares. They are redeemable in order of class (P to P5).

The holders of all initial ordinary shares and ordinary shares are only entitled to receive distributions
(including dividends) if either all dividends (including any accumulated) have been paid on the preference shares
and all preference shares have been fully redeemed, or if distribution has been approved by a shareholders’
resolution requiring at least 75% of the holders of the preference shares voting in favor of such a distribution. Any
dividend payments would equal between 0.25% and 0.5% of the amount paid for the shares. The holders of the
initial ordinary shares are entitled to the highest percentage. The percentage varies between the ordinary share
classes, of which class Al having the lowest percentage. The different classes materially include the same number
of shares. The ordinary shares categories are subordinated to the preference shares and redeemable in order of class
(Al to AS and last being the initial ordinary shares).
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20. Financial instruments, financial risk and capital management
Categories of financial instruments and fair value information

The following tables present the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities as of December 31,
2017 and December 31, 2016. They also present the respective levels in the fair value hierarchy for financial assets
and liabilities measured at fair value. Items that do not meet the definition of financial assets or liabilities are not

included in the table {(e.g. deferred revenue).

Carrying amount as of December 31, 2617

At Financial Fair
fair value liabilities value
Loans through at hierarchy
and profit amortized Level
(In € million) receivables or loss cost Total 1 2 3
Cash and cash equivalents 103.9 103.9
Trade and other receivables 276.8 - 276.8
Other financial assets 0.1 0.1
Derivatives 823 823 X
Total financial assets 380.8 823 - 463.1
Trade, other payables and other liabilities {408.6) (408.6)
Loans and borrowings:
- Notes (675.9) {675.9)
- Senior secured credit facilities (1,868.4) (1,868.4)
- Finance lease liabilities (12.3) (12.3)
Derivatives (20.9} (20.9) X
Total financial liabilities - (20.9) (2,965.2) (2,986.1)
Carrying amount as of December 31, 2016
At Financial Fair
fair value liabilities value
Loans through at hierarchy
and profit amortized Level
{In € million) receivables or loss cost Total 1 2 3
Cash and cash equivalents 123.7 123.7
Trade and other receivables 275.4 275.4
Other financial assets 0.7 0.7
Derivatives 9204 90.4 X
Total financial assets 399.8 90.4 - 490.2
Trade. other payables and other liabilities (3814) (381.4)
Loans and borrowings:
- Notes (676.2) (676.2)
- Senior secured credit facilities (2,045.7)y  (2,045.7)
~ Financial lease liabilities (0.5) (0.5)
Contingent purchase price obligation (7.5) (7.5) x
Derivatives (41.2) (41.2) X
Total financial liabilities - (48.7) (3,103.8) (3,152.5)
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The carrying amount of the financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value is a reasonable
approximation of fair value, with the exception of loans and borrowings. Information about the fair value of the
notes and the term loans is provided in note §15. The fair value of the notes and of the term loans are based on quoted
market prices ar broker quotes (on markets considered inactive). The notes are traded on the Glaba! Exchange
Market of the Irish Stock Exchange while the term loans are traded within the loan syndicate. The debts are
categorized as level 2 fair value measurements as the measureintents of fair value are based on significant ohservable
market data.

The derivatives are entered into as part of the Group’s strategy to mitigate operational risks (commodity
and foreign currency exchange derivatives) and t¢ mitigate financing risks {interest rate and cross-currency swaps).

The foliowing tabies show the types of derivatives the Group had as of December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, and their presentation in the statement of financial position.

Non- Total Non- Total

Current current derivative Current current derivative

(In € million) assets assels assets liabilities liabilities liabilities
Commodity derivatives 6.5 - 6.5 (2.3) - 2.3)
Foreign currency exchange derivatives 0.8 3.1 4.9 {0.2) - {6.2)
Total operating derivatives 7.3 0.1 7.4 (2.5) - (2.5)
Interest rate and cross-currency swaps 4.0 0.6 4.6 2.1) (5.8) (7.9)
Embedded derivatives - 70.3 70.3 {3.7) (6.8) (10.5)
Total financing derivatives 4.0 70.9 74.9 (5.8) (12.6) (18.4)
Total derivatives as of Dec. 31, 2017 11.3 1.0 82.3 (8.3) (12.6) {20.9)

Non- Total Non- Total

Current current derivative Current current  derivative

{In € million) assets assets assets liabilities liabilities liabilities
Commodity derivatives 4.7 - 4.7 (3.6) - (3.6)
Foreign currency exchange derivatives 0.7 - 0.7 1.9 - (1.9)
Total operating derivatives 54 - 5.4 (5.5) - (5.5)
[nterest rate and cross-currency swaps 3.7 9.1 12.3 (5.00 2.5 (7.5)
Embedded derivatives - 72.2 722 (5.1) (23.1) {28.2)
Total financing derivatives 3.7 81.3 85.0 {10.1) (25.6) (35.7)
Total derivatives as of Dec. 31, 2016 9.1 81.3 90.4 (15.6) (25.6) (41.2)

The Group measures derivative assets and liabilities, including embedded derivatives that are required to
be separated from their host contracts, at fair value. The fair value is estimated based on valuation models
commonly used in the market and include consideration of credit risk, where applicable. and discounts the estimated
future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract, using forward interest rates extracted from
observable yield curves and market forward exchange rates at the reporting date. The derivatives are categorized as
level 2 fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy as the measurements of fair value are based on
observable market data, either directly {i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). All changes in fair
value are recagnized in profit or loss as the Group does not apply hedge accounting under IAS 39.

As part of the purchase price for the SIG Group, the Group contractually agreed to pay RGHL an aggregate
cash consideration of up to €175 million contingent on the achievement of certain earnings targets defined in the
share purchase agreement during the years ending Decermber 31, 2015 and 2016. The total amount of €175 million
(€150 million for the 2015 financial year and €25 million for the 2016 financial year) was recognized as a
contingent purchase price obligation as of the acquisition date. The amount payable by the Group for the
2015 financial year was determined in October 2016 by an independent expert to be €150 million. The payment was
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executed in November 2016 using available cash.

Management’s assessment of the fair value of the contingent consideration for the 2016 financial year was
€7.5 million as of December 31, 2016. In June 2017, the amount payable by the Group was determined by the
parties to the share purchase agreement to be €10 million. The payment was executad in the same month using
available cash.

Financial risk management

In course of its business, the Group is exposed to a number of financial risks: liquidity risk, market risk
(including currency risk, commodity risk and interest rate risk) and credit risk. The following sections of this note
present the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its exposure to these financial risks.

Exposure to liquidity, market and credit risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
Management and the Board of Directors have the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s financial risk management framework, Management has established a treasury policy that identifies risks
faced by the Group and sets out policies and procedures to mitigate those risks. Financial risk management is
primarily carried out by the treasury function of the Group. Management has delegated authority levels and
authorized the use of various financial instruments to a restricted number of personnel within the treasury function.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not meet its contractual obligations as they fall due. The Group
evaluates its liquidity requirements on an ongoing basis using various cash and financial planning analyses and
ensures that it has sufficient cash to meet evpected operating expenses including repayments of and interest
payments on its debt.

The Group generates sufficient cash flows from its operating activities to meet its obligations arising from
its financial liabilities. It has credit lines in place to cover potential shortfalls and access to local working capital
tacilities in various jurisdictions, which are available if needed to support the cash management ot local operations.
The Group had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents in the amount of €101.7 million (€123.7 million as of
December 31, 2016) and access to an additional €255.8 million under its revolving credit facility as of
December 31, 2017 (€257.4 million as of December 31, 2016).

The following table includes information about the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its non-
derivative financial liabilities as of December 31, 2017. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Balances due within one year equal their carrying amounts as the impact on discounting is not significant.

Contractual cash flows

Carrying Total Up to More than

{In € million) amount 1 year  1-2 years 2-Syears  5years
As of December 31, 2017
Trade, other payables and other liabilities (408.6) (408.6) {401.3) (3.6) (1.8) (1.9)
Loans and borrowings:

« Notes (675.9) (962.7) (52.3) (52.3) {(156.9) (701.2)

- Senior secured credit tacilities (1,868.4) (2,253.6) (97.5) (96.7) (2,059.4) -

- Finance lease liabilities {12.3) (13.3) (1.9} (2.7) (6.5) (2.2)
Total non-derivative
financizal liabilities (2,965.2) (3,638.2) (553.0) (155.3) (2,224.6) (765.3)
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The Group's notes and senior secured credit facilities contain covenants and certain clauses that may
require earlier repayments than indicated in the table above. The Group monitors the covenants as well as the
aforementioned clauses on a regular basis to ensure that it is in compliance with the agreements at alf times.

The interest payments on the senior secured credit facilities are variable, thus the interest rate amounts
included in the table above will change if the market interest rate changes.

The Group enters into derivative contracts as part of operating and financing the business. The derivative
contracts are net-cash settled, with the financial asset or liability recognized as of December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016 representing the liquidity exposure to the Group as of that date. The cash flows resulting from a
settlement of the derivative contracts may change as commodity prices, interest rates and exchange rates change.
However, the overall impact on the Group’s liquidity from the derivative contracts is not deemed to be significant.

The following table includes information about the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its non-
derivative financial labilities as of December 31, 2016.

Contractual cash flows

Carrying Upto More than

{n € million) amount Totai Iyear 1-2years 2-S5years 5 years
As of December 31, 2016
Trade, other payables and other liabilities (381.4) (381.4) (374.3) @7 2.3) 0.1)
Loans and borrowings:

- Notes (676.2) (1,015.0) (52.3) (52.3) (156.9) (753.5)

- Senior secured credit facilities (2,045.7) (2,579.2) {109.1) (108.0) {316.7) ({2.045.4)

- Finance lease liabilities (0.9) (0.5) (0.2) 0.2) 0.1) -
Contingent purchase price obligation (1.5) (7.5) (7.5) - - -
Total non-derivative
financial liabilities (3,111.3) (3,983.6) (5434) (165.2) (476.0) (2,799.0)

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currency exchange rates, commodity
prices and inierest rates, will affect the cash flows or the fair value of the Group’s holdings of financial instruments.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters. The Group buys and sells derivatives in the ardinary course of business to manage market risks. The
Group does not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes. Hedge accounting under EAS 39 is not
applied.

Currency risk

As a result of the Group’s international operations, foreign currency exchange risk exposures exist on
sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in currencies that are not the functional currency of the
subsidiary involved in the transaction. The Group is also exposed to translation currency risk arising from the
translation of the assets, liabilities and results of its foreign entities into the Company’s functional currency Euro
from their respective functional curencies. The functional currencies of the subsidiaries are mainly Ewro,
U.S. Doilar, Swiss Franc, Chinese Renminbi. Thai Baht, Brazilian Real, Mexican Peso and New Zealand Dollar.

In accordance with the Group’s treasury policy, the Group secks to minimize transaction currency risk via
natural offsets to the extent possible. Therefore, when commercially feasible, the Group borrows or incurs costs in
the same currencies in which cash flows are generated. In addition, the Group uses foreign currency exchange
derivatives to hedge additional transaction currency risks as deemed appropriate.

The Group does not hedge its exposure to translation gains or losses related to the financial results of its
non-Euro functional currency entities.
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As previously noted, the Group manages operational transaction currency risk via natural offsets and by
entering into foreign currency exchange derivative contracts. The following table provides an overview of the
outstanding foreign currency exchange derivative contracts entered into as part of the operating business as of
December 31, 2017,

Contract Contracted Counter- Contracted Contracted
Type type Currency volume currency conversion range  date of maturity
Non deliverable
forwards Buy hY 9.600.000 BRL 3.2557-3.4266  Feb. 2018 - Jan. 2019
Currency forwards Buy € 39,000,000 THB 38.950-39810 Jan. 2018 - Nov, 2018
Cutrency forwards Sell $ 51,000,000 THH 32.320-32.510 Jan. 2018 - Nov. 2018
Currency forwards Buy b 21,000,000 CNY 6.6802 - 6.7331 May 2018 - Dec. 2018
Currency forwards Sell AUD 11,539,000 NZD 1.1059 -1.1077 Jan. 2018 - Nov. 2018
Currency forwards Sell h 11,465,000 NZD 1.4647 - 1.4714  Feb. 2018 - Dec. 2018
Cuwirency swap Buy b 16.000,000 € 1.19085 Jan. 2018
Currency swap Sell € 3,600,000 $ 1.19920 Jan, 2018

The following table provides an overview of the outstanding foreign currency exchange derivative
contracts as of December 31, 2016.

Contract Contracted Counter- Countracted Contracted

Type type Currency volume currency conversion range  date of maturity
Cumrency forwards Buy 5 370,000 BRL 43725 Jan. 2017
Currency forwards Buy € 3.800.,000 BRL 4.6795 Jan. 2017
Cwrrency forwards Buy € 24,954,000 THB 38.2450 - 38 9750 Jan. 2017 - Dec. 2017
Currency forwards Buy € 23,000,000 CNY 7.3031 -7.4895 Jan. 2017 - Dec. 2017
Currency swap Buy CNY 100,000,000 € 7.6385 Feb. 2617
Currency swap Sell € 40,000,000 3 1.0440 - 1.0560 Jan. 2017

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31. 2016, the Group’s primary residual transaction
currency exposwre relates to an intra-group U.S. Dollar-denominated loan and intra-group Euro denominated loans
held by a Swiss Franc functional currency entity. Changes in the foreign currency exchange rate between the U.S.
Dollar and the Swiss Franc and between the Eure and the Swiss Franc will result in the Group recognizing either
foreign currency exchange gains or losses on the translation of this intra-group debt into Swiss Francs in the future,
A 5% weakening of the Swiss Franc against the U.S. Dollar and the Furo as of December 31, 2017 would have
resulted in an additional unrealized foreign currency exchange loss of €106.1 million {an additional unrealized
foreign currency exchange loss of €64.6 million as of December 31. 2016).

Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk is the risk that changes in the price of commodities purchased by the Group and used
as inputs in the production process may impact the Group as such price changes cannot always be passed on to the
customers.

The Group's exposure to commodity price risk arises principally from the purchase of resin and aluminum.
The Group’s objective is to ensure that the commodity price risk exposure is kept at an acceptable level. The Group
generally purchases commodities at spot market prices and uses derivatives to hedge the exposure in relation to the
cost of resin (and its components) and aluminum. Due to this strategy, the Group is able to fix the raw material
prices one year forward for approximately 80% of the resin and aluminum purchases, which substantially
minimizes the exposure to raw material price fluctuations over that period

The realized gain or loss arising from derivative commodity contracts are recognized in cost of sales

while the unrealized gain or loss associated with derivative commodity contracts are recognized in other income
or other expenses.

F-46



SIG Combibloc Group Holdings S.ar.l
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

The Group recognized an unrealized gain of €3.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 and an
unrealized gain of €9.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 relating to its derivative commodity contracts

as a component of other income or other expenses.

The Group recognized a realized gain of €2.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 and a realized
loss of €6.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 relating to its derivative commodity contracts as a

component of cost of sales.

The following table provides an overview of outstanding commodity derivative contracts as of

December 31, 2017,
Contracted Contracted Contracted

Type Unit of measure volume price range date of maturity
Aluminwn swaps metric tonne 18.900 $1.916.00- $2,179.00  Jan. 2018 - Dec. 2018
Aluminum premium metric tonne 6,997 $139-8172 Jan. 2018 - Dec. 2018
Resin swaps metric tonne 40,476 €1,438 - €1,580 Jan. 2018 - Dec. 2018
Resin swaps metric tonne 25,110 $1.245.00 - $1,326.00 Jan. 2018 - Jan, 2019
Ethylene swaps metric tonne 17,328 €988 - €1,065 Jan. 2018 - Dec. 2018
Propylene swaps metric tonne 8,280 €1,345 Jan. 2018 - Dec. 2018
Electricity swaps miegawatt hour 43,800 NZD 71,80 Jan. 2018 - Dec. 2018

There would have been an impact of €15.4 million on profit or loss from a remeasurement of commodity
derivative contracts as of December 31. 2017 (an impact of €14.5 million on profit or loss as of December 31,
2016). assuming a 10% parallel upward or downward movement in the price curve used to value the contracts

assuming all other variables remain constant.

The following table provides an overview of outstanding commodity derivative contracts as of

December 31, 2016.
Contracted Contracted Contracted

Type Unit of measure volume _price range date of maturity
Aluminum swaps metric tonne 21,930 $1,553.55- $1,730.00  Jan. 2017 - Dec. 2017
Aluminum premium metric tonne 8,640 $137 - 8155 Jan. 2017 - Dec. 2017
Resin swaps metric tonne 37.68G €1.505 - €1,599 Jan. 2017 - Jan, 2018
Resin swaps metric tonne 16,920 $1,188.00 - $1,207.50 Jan, 2017 - Dec. 2017
Ethylene swaps metric tonne 20,240 €975 -€1,010 Jan. 2017 - Jan. 2018
Propylene swaps metric tonne 8,320 €1,232.00 - €1,297.50_ Jan, 2017 - Dec. 2017
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk primarily arises from loans and borrowings at both fixed and variable interest
rates. The Group pays a fixed interest rate on the notes while the interest rate on the term loans is variable. The
interest rate profile of the Group’s significant interesi-bearing financial instruments as of December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016 is presented in the following table.

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
{In € million) 2017 2016
Fixed-rate instruments
Financial liabilities (687.3) (675.5)
(687.3) (675.5)
Effect of interest rate swaps {1,033.6) (1,161.6)
(1,720.9) (1,837.1)
Variable-rate instruments
Financial assets 103.9 123.7
Financial habilities (1,939.4) (2,140.2)
(1,835.5) (2,016.5)
Effect of interest rate swaps 1.033.6 1.161.6
(801.9) (854.9)

The Group has entered into interest rate swaps to partially hedge the cash flow exposure arising on the
Euro- and U.S. Dollar-denominated term loans at variable interest rates. The Group has not designated the interest
rates swaps as hedging instruments, thus the fair value changes have been recognized in profit or loss. The swaps
are presented as part of other current and non-current assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position.

A 100 basis point increase in the variable component (one month Euribor/LIBOR) of the interest rate on
the term loans would increase the annual interest expense by €7.2 million as of December 31, 2017 (by €6.9 million
as of December 31, 2016).

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from its customers. The
carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Historically there has been a low level
of losses resulting from default by customers.

The credit risk relating to trade receivables is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. Given the diverse global operations and customers across the Group, credit control procedures are jointly
managed by Group Treasury and each of the operaling businesses within the Group. These joint responsibilities
include, but are not limited to, reviewing the individual characteristics of new customers for creditworthiness before
accepting the customer and agreeing upon purchase limits and terms of trade as well as regularly reviewing the
creditworthiness of existing customers and previously agreed purchase limits and terms of trade.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by executing a credit limit policy, requiring advance payments
in certain instances, taking out insurance for specific debtors as well as utilizing securitization and non-recourse
factoring programs. These programs are further deseribed in note 9.

In addition, concentration of credit risk is limited due ta a significant amount of customers comprising a

diversified mix of international companies, large national and regional companies as well as small local companies,
of which the majority has been customers of the Group for many years.
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Management believes that the recognized provision of doubtful debts sufficiently covers the risk of default
based on historical payment behavior and analysis of customer credit risk.

In line with its credit policy. the Group generally only enters into transactions with banks and financial
institutions having a credit rafing of at least investmenl grade (long-term: A rating and short-term: Al or P1 rating,
as per Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s).

Capital management

The Directors of the Company are responsible for monitoring and managing the Group’s capital structure,
which is comprised of equity {share capital and additional paid-in capital} as well as loans and borrowings.

The Directors™ policy is to maintain an acceptable capital base to promote the confidence of the Group's
note holders and the lenders under the senior secured credit facilities and to sustain the future development of the
business. The Directors monitor the Group’s financial position to ensure that it complies at all times with its
financial and other covenants as set out in its agreements with the notes holders and the lenders under the senior
secured credit facilities,

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Directors may elect to take a number of measures,

including for example to dispose of assets of the business, alter its short to medium term plans with respect to
capital prajects and working capital levels, or to re-balance the level of equity and debt in place.

21. Operating leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

As of As of
December 31, December 31,

(In € miilion) 2017 2016
Less than | year 85 10.0
Between 1 and 5 years 11.3 13.0
More than 5 years - 0.1
Total 19.8 23.1

Operating lease expenses recognized in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income were
€13.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 {€13.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016).

22, Capital commitments

As of December 31, 2017. the Group had entered into contracts to incur capital expenditures of
€394 million (€33.2 miilion as of December 31, 2016) for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

23, Contingent liabilities
The Group has contingent liabilities relating to legal and other matters arising in the ordinary course of

business. Based on legal and other advice, management is of the view that the outcome of any such proceedings will
have no significant effect on the financial position of the Group beyond the recognized provision.
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24. Related parties

Shareholders

The parent and ultimate parent company of the Group is Onex Corporation (“Onex™) The shares of
SIG Combibloc Group Holdings 8.4 r.l. are held indirectly by Onex, certain members of management and a number
of co-investors.

Certain parties, including Onex. members of the SIG management and other co-investors entered into
investment and shareholders agreements with respect to their investment in S8IG Combibloc Group Holdings S.ar.l.
These agreements, along with certain ancillary agreements thereto, contain agreements among the parties with
respect to, among other things, tag-along rights, drag-along rights, pre-emptive rights and restrictions on the transfer
of shares. The agreements also contain provisions regarding the transfer of shares held by employees who cease to
be employees or officers and provisions relating to any potential exit by Onex from its investment, including by way
of an initial public offering of shares.

Other related parties

The Group has related party relationships with its subsidiaries, joint ventures, its key executive otficers and
directors and companies affiliated with Onex.

The Group’s subsidiaries are listed in note 25. [nformation about the joint ventures is presented in note 13.

Related party transactions and balances

The Group has entered into a consulting services agreemient with Onex under which it will pay to Onex
(1) an annual fee of approximately €1 million for certain advisory, consulting and other services to be performed by
Onex and/or its affiliate(s), in addition to reimbursement of certain out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection
with the performance of such services, and (ii) additional reasonable compensation for other services provided by
Onex and/or its affiliate(s) from time to time, including advisory and other services with respect to acquisitions and
divestitures or offerings of equity or debt interests. The Group paid Onex an annual fee, including reimbursement of
expenses. of €1.1 million for the year 2017 (€1.1 million for the year 2016).

Certain members of management (key executive officers and directors) indirectly participated in the
Group’s share capital increases as part of an equity arrangement and paid a price equivalent ta the fair value of the
shares. Refer further to the section ~Shareholders” in the beginning of this note.

Key management personnel compensation for the year ended December 31, 2017 includes short-term
emptoyee benefits of €3.1 million (€4.5 million for 2016) and post-cmployment benefits of €0.4 million
(€0.3 million for 2016).



SIG Cembibloc Group Holdings 8.3 r.l.
Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2017

Information about other related parties is provided in the following table.

fIn € million)

Transaction values

for the years ended

Balance outstanding as of

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2017

2016

2017

2016

Joint ventures
Sale of goods and services and revenue under
royalty agreements / Net receivables (sleeves,
liquid paper board, filling machines and related
goods and services)
Dividends received

Onex portfolio companies
Purchase of goods / Payables (supplies and
machine parts):
- Erwepa/Davis Standard
Loan receivables:
- Wizard MEP company

119.6
25.0

(0.5}

188.8
19.3

©4

238

0.5

37.0

0.1

[.1

There were no other significant related party transactions during the years ended December 31, 2017 and

December 31, 2016.

25, Group entities

Interest held " as of

Reporting Country of  Dec 31, Dec. 31,

date incorporation 2017 2016
Parent company
S1G Combibloc Group Holdings S.ar.l. Dec. 31 Luxembourg
Subsidiaries
§1G Combibloc Holdings GP S.at.l. Dec. 31 Luxembourg 100% 100%
51G Combibloc Holdings S.C.A. Dec. 31 Luxembourg 100% 100%
S1G Combibloc PurchaseCo S.ar.l. Dec. 31 Luxembourg 100% 100%
SIG Schweizerische Industrie-Gesellschaft GmbH Dec. 31 Switzerland 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc US Acquisition Inc. Pec. 31 U.S.A. 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc US Acquisition [T Tnc. Dec. 31 U.S.A. 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Argentina S.R.L.* Dec. 31 Argentina 100% 100%
Combibloc S.R.L. ° Dec. 31 Argentina 100% -
Whakatane Mill Australia Pty Limited Dec. 31 Aaustralia 100% 100%
SIG Austria Holding GmbH Dec. 31 Austria 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc GmbH Dec. 31 Austria 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc GmbH & Co. KG Dec. 31 Austria 100% 100%
SIG Beverages Brasil Lida. Dec. 31 Brazil 100% 100%
S1G Combibloc do Brasil Lida. Dec. 31 Brazil 106% 100%
S1G Combibloc Chile Limitada Dec. 31 Chile 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc (Suzhou) Co, Lid. Dec. 31 China 100% [00%
SIG Combibloc s.r.0. Dec. 31 Czech Republic  100% 100%
S1G Combibloc S.a.r.L Dec. 31 France 100% 100%

<
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Interest held ' as of
Reporting Country of  Dec. 31, Dec. 31,

date incorporation 2017 2016
SIG Combibloc GmbH Dec. 31 Germany 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Holding GmbH Dec. 31 Germany 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Systems GmbH Dec. 31 Germany 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Zerspanungstechnik GmbH Dec. 31 Germany 100% 100%
SI1G Euro Holding GmbH Dec 31 Germany 100% 100%
SIG Information Technology GmbH * Dec. 31 Germany 100% 100%
SIG International Services GmbH * Dec. 31 Germany 100% 100%
S1G Combibloc Kft. Dec. 31 Hungary 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc India Ltd * Dec. 31 India 100% -
PT. S81G Combibloc Indonesia Dec. 31 Indonesia 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc S.r.l. Dec. 31 Ttaly 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Korea Ltd. Dec. 31 Korea 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc México, S.A. de C.V. Dec. 31 Mexico 106% 100%
SIG Combibloc B.V. Dec. 31 Netherlands 100% 100%
Whakatane Mill Limited Dec. 31 New Zealand 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Sp. z o.0. Dec. 31 Poland 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Services 8.R.L. Dec. 31 Romania 100% 100%
000 SIG Combibloc Dec. 31 Russia 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc S.A. Dec. 31 Spain 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc AB Dec. 31 Sweden 100% 100%
SIG allCap AG Dec. 31 Switzerland 160% 100%
SIG Combibloc Group AG Dec. 31 Switzerland 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Procurement AG Dec. 31 Switzerland 100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Receivables Management AG © Dec. 31 Switzerland 100% -
SIG Technology AG Dec. 31 Switzerland 100% 100%
$1G Combibloc Taiwan Lid. Dec. 31 Taiwan 160% 100%
SIG Combibloc Ltd. Dec. 31 Thailand 100% 100%
S1G Combibloc Limited ’ Dec. 31 United Kingdom  100% 100%
SIG Combibloc Inc. Dec. 31 US.A, 100% 100%
SIG Holding USA, LLC Dec. 31 U.S.A. 100% 100%
SIG Vietnam Lid. Dec. 31 Vietnam 100% 100%
Joint ventures
SIG Combibloc Obeikan Company Limited Dec. 31 Saudi Arabia 50% 50%
SIG Combibloc Obeikan FZCO Dec. 31 UAE 50% 50%

The ownership and voting interests are the same.

In liquidation.

Established in the third quarter of 2017.

SIG Information Technology GmbH and SIG International Services GmbH are not subject to audit for the 2017
and 2016 financial years under German BilRUG. The Company has guaranteed all outstanding liabilities of’
these subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

* Established in the fourth quarter of 2017,

¢ Established in the first quarter of 2017.

7 §1G Combibloc Limited is not subject to audit for the 2017 and 2016 financial years under the UK Companies
Act section 479A. The Company has guaranteed all outstanding labilities of this subsidiary as of

December 31, 2017 and 2016.
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26. Auditors

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 and for the year
ended Deceraber 31. 2016 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société cooperative, Luxembourg. The
total fees for the Group are shown below:

Year Yeuar
ended ended
December 31, December 31,
(In € million) 2017 2016
Audit 1.4 1.5
Other 0.1 0.1
Total fees 1.5 1.6

27. Subsequent events

There have been tio events subsequent to December 31, 2017 that would require an adjustment to or
disclosure in these consolidated financial staterments.
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